#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JASON L. WHEELER,	)
Appellant,	) )
vs.	) CASE NO. SC06-2323
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)
Appellee.	) ) )

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

### **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES R. WULCHAK CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar No. 249238 444 Seabreeze Blvd. - Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118-3941

(386) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

###

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged the Appellant, Jason L. Wheeler, by indictment with one count of first-degree murder of a law enforcement officer, Deputy Wayne Koester, two counts of attempted first degree murder of law enforcement officers with a firearm, one on Thomas McKane and one on William Crotty, and two counts of aggravated battery of law enforcement officers, one on McKane and one on Crotty. (Vol. I, R 10-11)<sup>1</sup>

The defense unsuccessfully contested the legality of Florida's death penalty under *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), contending among other things that it is unconstitutionally imposed by a judge rather than by jury, that it fails to require jury unanimity on the recommendation and on each aggravator, and that the standard penalty phase jury instructions are unconstitutional as they minimize the role of the jury. (Vol. I, R 181-200; Vol. II, R 201-208, 217-220, 221-269) The defendant also argued that Florida's death penalty is unconstitutional because it requires an improper burden of proof on the defendant to prove mitigators. (Vol. II, R 221-227, 320-326) The defendant also moved to bar victim impact evidence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The symbol "Vol." with Roman Numerals refers to the volume numbers of the record on appeal (pleadings and transcripts) as denoted by the court clerk (and not the transcript volume numbers supplied by the court reporter); the symbol "R" to the page numbers of the pleadings; and the symbol "T" to the pages of the transcripts, (numbered separately from the pleadings).

from the penalty phase of the trial, contending that under Florida's death penalty scheme, such evidence is irrelevant (and hence unconstitutional) to any statutory aggravating circumstances, that the prejudice of the victim impact evidence would outweigh its probative value and allow for imposition of the death penalty based on sympathy, that the evidence should be presented before the judge only, and that the evidence should be limited. (Vol. III, R 402-408, 409-424, 425-431, 432-436) The defense filed a motion to declare the aggravating circumstance of cold, calculated, and premeditated unconstitutional as vague and overly broad, and unconstitutional as applied. (Vol. II, R 285-304, 305-319) The court denied the motions and permitted the victim impact evidence. (Vol. III, R 579-581; Vol. XV, R 1727-1728)

The defendant filed three motions in limine to prevent improper prosecutorial argument during the penalty phase of the trial. (Vol. II, R 342-351, 352-353, 354-363, 409-424) The court either granted or the prosecutor agreed to refrain from arguing several of the topics in the motions, including comments on the prosecutorial opinions of expertise, implying that the prosecutor had already determined that this case warranted the death penalty (Vol. III, R 581; Vol. VII, T 55-56); arguing incorrect law to the jury (Vol. III, R 581; Vol. VII, T 59); arguing that the jury may not consider mercy (Vol. III, R 581; Vol. VII, T 61-62);

comments that the prosecutor was the representative of the community (Vol. III, R 581; Vol. VII, T 62-64); and argument of factors other than the statutory aggravators in support of death, including victim impact, and that the jurors would act differently had they been in the same situation as the defendant (Vol. II, R 354; Vol. III, R 581; Vol. VII, T 68) The court denied the motion in limine regarding the prosecutor's being allowed to express his personal opinion as to the appropriateness of the death penalty in this case (first motion, paragraph E, Vol. II, R 348), but cautioned the prosecutor not to phrase his argument in terms of his personal belief. (Vol. III, R 581; Vol. VII, T 56-57) The court also denied the motion in limine with regard to prosecutorial appeals to emotion (third motion, paragraph G, Vol. II, R 356-357), ruling that facts in a capital case may likely engender emotion, but again warned the prosecutor that this ruling would not create a carte blanche to appeal to the jurors' emotions. (Vol. III, R 581; Vol. VII, T 68-71)

A jury trial commenced before the Honorable T. Michael Johnson, Judge of the Fifth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Lake County, on May 15, 2006 (Vol. VIII, T 264) The court denied the defendant's motion for judgment of acquittal. (Vol. XIV, T 1565) Defense counsel requested in writing specific jury instructions, including one on heat of passion for the guilt phase. (Vol. IV, R 606,

609) The trial court denied the request for the heat of passion instruction once the defendant had decided not to testify, ruling that without such testimony, the instruction could not be given in this case. (Vol. XIV, T 1581, 1592-1596) The jury returned verdicts of guilty for first degree murder, two counts of attempted first degree murder on law enforcement officers with a firearm (finding that the defendant discharged the firearm), and two counts of aggravated battery on law enforcement officers with a firearm (also finding that the defendant discharged the firearm). (Vol. IV, R 729-736; Vol. XV, T 1708-1711) The court adjudicated the defendant guilty of the charges. (Vol. IV, R 739-741)

Penalty phase of the trial commenced on May 23, 2006. The court denied the defendant's motions to preclude victim impact testimony and to allow it only before the judge, although the court expressed great concern that, while such evidence was generally permitted, the effect of it could create reversible error in the case, urging the state to present it to the court alone, or, failing that, to limit the evidence before the jury. (Vol. XV, T 1721-1723, 1728, 1729, 1735) The court, with the consent of the state, did delete some specific objectionable matters from the witnesses' written statements, but ruled it would permit the remainder of the state's victim impact evidence, over defense objection. (Vol. XV, T 1724-1735)

During the prosecutor's opening penalty phase statements to the jury, the

elected state attorney told the jury that in this phase of the trial they would be concerned with the nature of the crime, the nature of the defendant, and the *nature of the victim*. (Vol. XV, T 1748) Then, the bulk of the state's penalty phase evidence (thirty-nine out of the fifty-nine pages of the state's direct testimony at penalty phase) consisted of the victim impact testimony of Sheriff Chris Daniels who presented the oath of office taken by Deputy Koester "to support, protect, and defend;" and of four relatives of Wayne Koester, including his brother, sister, exwife (and mother of his children), and wife, along with fifty-four (54) photographs of Deputy Koester and his family at various family functions, plus a Mother's Day card and note from Koester. (Vol. IV, R 754-755; Vol. XV, T 1756-1758, 1777-1812; Vol. XIX, index page 4)

Following the presentation of the penalty phase testimony from both the state and defense, defense counsel moved in limine to prevent the state from arguing the victim impact as aggravating circumstances or to be weighed against the mitigating circumstances. (Vol. XVI, T 1947-1952) The state argued that it should be allowed to argue victim impact as a contrast to the defendant's mitigation of his life and character. (Vol. XVI, T 1948-1950) The defense objected to any mention of "weight" with regard to the victim impact evidence since, by law, no weight is to be given it with regard to the aggravating and

mitigating circumstances. (Vol. XVI, T 1952) Expressing concern over the use of victim impact evidence, the trial court ruled that it would allow mention of the two tragedies, one to the victim's family and one to the defendant's family, but nothing beyond that. (Vol. XVI, T 1951-1952)

The elected State Attorney proceeded to argue to the jury that there were rules to remove their personal emotions, and that there was also common sense and reason. They could use that common sense, he urged, to consider that the choices the defendant made had a devastating impact on not just the family of Deputy Koester, but his family as well. (Vol. XVI, T 1955-1956) Continuing, the State Attorney invited the jury to count with him the "dozens" of people affected just with the deputy's nieces and nephews – with six children in each of the deputy's two siblings' families, and four more of Deputy Koester's own. (Vol. XVI, T 1956) Defense counsel objected, contending that the state was making the victim impact evidence an aggravating circumstance based upon the number of people more affected. (Vol. XVI, T 1956-1957) When the State Attorney indicated that was not his intent and that he had intended to say that everybody was affected and that was not what their decision should be based on, he was permitted to continue and, indeed, did announce that "the rules tell you that that's not what you base

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  As had occurred in the case of Zack v. State, 911 So.2d 1190 (Fla.2005).

your decision on" and that they should look objectively at the just consequence of the choices that were made, contrasting Koester's courageous and honorable choices against cowardly and dishonorable ones. (Vol. XVI, T 1957-1958)

The lead prosecutor invited the jury to look at, among other things in aggravation, the "nature and position" of the victim, while reminding them of the testimony of "Mr. Koester's uniqueness to [his family] and the community," which the judge had told them they could not consider an aggravating fact. (Vol. XVI, T 1960) State Attorney Brad King read to the jury the previously introduced oath of office signed by Deputy Koester that he would "support, defend, and protect . . . so help me God," (Vol. XVI, T 1969-1970), and asked the jury to weigh the choices: with Wayne Koester choosing to swear that oath, to put on a uniform and badge, and to make a difference, whereas Wheeler's choice was to "take them out." (Vol. XVI, T 1972-1973) The elected prosecutor, urging the strength of the aggravation and the choices made, concluded by personally asked the jury to do something that the law did not require, to recommend unanimously "as one voice" a "manifest" decision, the only one that could "do justice," a sentence of death. (Vol. XVI, T 1973) The state also argued to the jury that it should not find the mental mitigating circumstance of inability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law since there was no testimony that the defendant was insane or heard voices. (Vol.

#### XVI, T 1695)

The jury recommended a sentence of death by a vote of 10-2. (Vol. IV, R 765; Vol. XVII, T 2011-2012)

At the *Spencer*<sup>3</sup> hearing, the state again presented more victim impact testimony from the victim's niece and sister, and the prosecutor and sister read into the record four letters from other family members or friends, as well as an e-mail which Koester had sent to the sister. (Vol. XVII, T 2024-2037)

The court sentenced the defendant to death, finding that the state had proved three aggravating circumstances: cold, calculated, and premeditated [§921.141(5)(i)] (giving it great weight); for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest<sup>4</sup> [§921.141(5)(e)] (giving it great weight); and a prior violent felony (being the contemporaneous crimes for which the defendant was also convicted in this case) [§921.141(5)(b)] (giving it some weight). (Vol. V, R 893-902) The court, relying on cases from this Court, including those involving gunshot murders of police officers, <sup>5</sup> ruled that the state had failed to prove the aggravating

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The trial court, following this Court's decision in *Kearse v. State*, 662 So.2d 677, 685-686 (Fla. 1995), correctly ruled that two other aggravating circumstances, the victim was a law enforcement officer [§921.141(5)(j)], and the capital felony was committed to disrupt or hinder enforcement of the laws [§921.141(5)(g)], relied on the same evidence for proof; thus doubling of these aggravators was prohibited. (Vol. V, R 899)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Street v. State, 636 So.2d 1297 (Fla. 1994) (gunshot murder following pursuit of

circumstance of heinous, atrocious, or cruel. (Vol. V, 902-906)

The trial court found as statutory mitigating circumstances: the crime was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental and emotional disturbance [§921.141 (6)(b)] based on Dr. Jacqueline Olander's diagnosis of such factors as his extensive methamphetamine use and frontal lobe brain damage causing extreme paranoia and confusion, his stress over losing his job following the hurricanes, the destruction of his home due to the hurricanes, and his awful relationship with his girlfriend, Sara Heckerman (giving it some weight due to concerns regarding the process by which Dr. Olander reached her conclusion); and defendant's capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. [§921.141(6)(f)] because of Dr. Olander's diagnosis as to his sustained and extreme methamphetamine use and his possible preexisting deficiency in executive function, along with the influence of social factors and stress mentioned above (given some weight, again due to concerns about Dr. Olander's diagnosis process and the impact of defendant's alleged

\_\_\_

wounded police officer, who had been shot three times in the chest and face, even though reprehensible, was not HAC); *Reaves v. State*, 639 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1994); *Burns v. State*, 609 So.2d 600 (Fla. 1992); *Rivera v. State*, 545 So.2d 864 (Fla. 1989); *Brown v. State*, 526 So.2d 903 (Fla. 1988). *Cf. Diaz v. State*, 860 So.2d 960, 967 (Fla. 2003); *Rimmer v. State*, 825 So.2d 304, 328-329 (Fla. 2002); *Ferrell v. State*, 686 So.2d 1324, 1330 (Fla. 1996); *Robinson v. State*, 574 So.2d 108, 112 (Fla. 1991); *Lewis v. State*, 398 So.2d 432, 438 (Fla. 1981) (without any intent to torture, murder by shooting is not, as a matter of law, HAC). (Vol. V, R 903-906)

attempts to deceive her regarding his memory of the events). (Vol. V, R 907-914)

As to non-statutory mitigation, the trial court found: appropriate courtroom behavior (assigning it minimal weight); good family background of a close-knit, caring family (minimal weight since, despite good family, defendant chose a different path); defendant was a loving devoted father to his step-daughter, Hanna, and his two children, Ivey and Little Jay (some weight); defendant did well in grammar and middle schools (minimal weight, since not maintained after early education); defendant engaged in public service, both before and after the spate of hurricanes that swept through Central Florida in 2004, helping to board up neighbors' homes and clearing roads (minimal weight, since not a pattern of protracted service); defendant's close friendship ties (minimal weight); defendant had been a hard worker (minimal weight, since he had been fired from job and had not worked in weeks prior to crime); the defendant's remorse (minimal weight, since did not exhibit remorse until after leaving scene); the defendant's paralysis and confinement to a wheelchair as a result of the wounds he received during the incident (assigned some weight); defendant's use of drugs and alcohol (while established, given minimal weight, since no evidence of how much or when drugs and alcohol used and whether connected to volitional acts or the crime); and the defendant being under stress from the "truly dreadful" relationship with Sara

Heckerman and her nature of being extremely critical, occasionally violent to the defendant, and prone to vandalism of defendant's home and cars, his stress over his lost job and the loss from the hurricane season of his home (some weight, since his losses from the hurricane season were not unique to him, and the court's finding that there was no evidence defendant "snapped" where the killing took time, effort and thought). (Vol. V, R 914-924) The court rejected the defendant's proposed mitigation (c) that his learning in the 5<sup>th</sup> grade that he was adopted caused an extreme emotional impact on the defendant (rejected since no evidence it affected him beyond the 6<sup>th</sup> grade); and (k) the defendant's family's background in law enforcement (rejected since there was no evidence of any impact or influence this may have had on the defendant's character). (Vol. V, R 917-918, 921)

The court concluded that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating factors and sentenced Wheeler to death for the first-degree murder of Deputy Koester. (Vol. V, R 923-924) The court further sentenced him to consecutive terms of life imprisonment for the remaining four counts, each with a minimum mandatory term of twenty years due to the discharge of a firearm. (Vol. V, R 924-935; 939-943) Additionally, based on victim Koester employment salary and retirement benefits, the court ordered the defendant to pay restitution to the family in the amount of \$1,290,333. (Vol. V, R 925)

Notice of appeal was timely filed. (Vol. V, R 952-953) The state filed an untimely notice of cross-appeal, presumably to challenge the trial court's rejection of HAC. (Vol. V, R 969) This appeal follows.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The defendant, Jason Wheeler, had been devastated by the active hurricane season of 2004, which destroyed his home, cost him his job, and threatened his relationship with his abusive and destructive girlfriend and mother of his children, Sara Heckerman. There were reports of Heckerman striking Wheeler on several occasions, the havoc she wreaked on Jason's attempted repairs of the home, <sup>6</sup> and her destruction, vandalism and thefts of Wheeler's vehicles and other belongings. (Vol. XVI, T 1887-1888) To cope with the stress, Wheeler attempted selfmedication through his abuse of methamphetamine. (Vol. XVI, T 1884, 1888, 1897-1900) Everyone who knew "Jay" (as he was called by friends and family) recounted the extreme change brought on him due to the stresses of that season and the drug abuse, changing him from a likeable, easy-going, jovial, caring friend or family member into a paranoid, delusional stressed-out wreck. (Vol. XVI, T 1843-1845, 1867-1869, 1871-1873, 1875-1878, 1881-1884, 1885-1889, 1918-1920, 1926-1929)

On the morning of February 9, 2005, Deputy Sheriffs Wayne Koester,
William Crotty, and Thomas McKane, responded to a call by Sara Heckerman to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As soon as he would fix an item in the mobile home, she would destroy his repairs, by, for example, throwing a brick through the repaired window. The defendant did not strike back at

the property in Paisley where she lived with the defendant in a travel trailer (while he attempted to repair their mobile home damaged in the hurricanes of 2004). (Vol. XI, T 998-1000; Vol. XII, T 1010-1013; Vol. XIV, T 1519-1521) There, Crotty spoke with Heckerman at a neighbor's home, observing a bruise under one eye, a bruise on the bridge of her nose, and a partial gash on her head. (Vol. XIV, T 1521) Heckerman told Crotty that Wheeler would be asleep inside the travel trailer on the property and gave the officer permission to go onto the property, where the officer intended to at least consider arresting the defendant. (Vol XIV, T 1521-1522) Crotty sent Deputies Koester and McKane to the property while he continued to speak with Heckerman. (Vol. XII, T 1012-1015; Vol. XIV, T 1523) After speaking more with Heckerman, Crotty himself responded to the defendant's property, parking behind their patrol vehicles, all of them at the foot of the driveway to the property. (Vol. XIV, T 1523-1524)

The officers searched the property, including the travel trailer (where Heckerman had claimed the defendant would be), a shed behind the trailer, a dog compound behind the shed, and the defendant's damaged uninhabitable mobile home where construction work was being done. (Vol. XII, T 1016-1019; Vol. XIV, T 1524-1525) Deputy Crotty advised his sergeant that they would need a K-9 dog

and a helicopter to search the woods surrounding the property for the defendant. (Vol. XIV, T 1526)

Crotty drove back to the neighboring home and returned to the scene with Heckerman, this time parking his vehicle in front of the other patrol cars, closest to the residence. (Vol. XII, T 1018-1019; Vol. XIV, T 1526-1527) Crotty advised Koester and McKane to put up crime scene tape around the boundary of the property, and they began stringing the tape near the travel trailer. (Vol. XII, T 1020-1021; Vol. XIV, T 1529) McKane's gun was holstered while tying the tape, but he did not know if Koester had his weapon drawn or holstered. (Vol. XII, T 1021)

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