IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-2323

---

JASON L. WHEELER

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

---

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT  
IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

---

BILL McCOLLUM  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT  
KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY  
Fla. Bar No. 998818  
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500  
DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114  
(386)238-4990  
FAX - (386) 226-0457

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The "victim impact evidence" claim was not preserved for review by timely objection. In fact, the victim impact testimony was reduced to writing before any testimony was presented, and then reviewed by the trial court and edited in accordance with the defendant's objections.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion with respect to the closing argument claims - - none of the complained-of argument was improper and, in any event, only one statement was objected to, and that statement was not improper, either.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing Wheeler's proposed "heat of passion" jury instruction. The standard jury instruction, which includes heat of passion, was given, and the law is settled that no more is required. The facts of this case demonstrate premeditation beyond any doubt. Moreover, what Wheeler called "heat of passion" was, in actuality, a diminished capacity defense that, under Florida law, is invalid. Finally, there was no evidentiary support of the heat of passion instruction Wheeler proposed.

Wheeler's claim that §921.141 of the *Florida Statutes* is unconstitutional is not preserved, and, even if the claim contained in his brief can be read into his pre-trial motion, it is not a basis for relief. To the extent that Wheeler complains that the jury instructions "shifted the burden of proof," that

claim is not preserved. Wheeler expressly accepted the jury instruction that he challenges on appeal. In any event, binding precedent forecloses this claim.

The "*Ring v. Arizona*" claim is foreclosed by binding precedent.

Wheeler does not challenge either the sufficiency of the evidence or the proportionality of his death sentence. There is no question at all of Wheeler's guilt, which is based, *inter alia*, on two eyewitness identifications and Wheeler's confession. Insofar as the propriety of Wheeler's death sentence is concerned, Wheeler killed one law enforcement officer and wounded two others in a shootout that can best be described as an ambush. The events were precipitated by Wheeler's desire to avoid incarceration, and were the response to such a threat that Wheeler had planned for some time. Against this aggravation was minimal mitigation, none of which was compelling.

The trial court expressed the opinion that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel, but believed that the precedent of this Court precluded finding that aggravating factor when the victim was a law enforcement officer. Respectfully, this Court's precedent does not say that - this Court should correct that error and find that the heinousness aggravator also applies to this case.

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE "VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE" CLAIM

On pages 34-43 of his brief, Wheeler argues that the trial court abused its discretion in allowing the introduction of what Wheeler labels "excessive victim impact evidence." The complained-of testimony was given by four witnesses, and covers 52 pages of the transcript. (V15, R1759-V16, R1811). Prior to the testimony of the witnesses, their proposed testimony was reduced to writing, reviewed by the trial court, **and edited in accordance with the defendant's objections to the proposed testimony.** (V15, R1724-1738). As to each witness, Wheeler specifically stated that he had no objection to the testimony as edited beyond a "general objection" to victim impact evidence which was based on counsel's opinion that the cases allowing the introduction of such evidence are wrongly decided. (V15, R1727, 1729, 1733, 1734-35). Counsel explicitly stated that he had no specific objection to anything contained in the statements that were read to the jury (V15, R1735), and made no objection during the testimony of any of the four victim impact witnesses.<sup>16</sup>

Florida law is settled that a specific objection is required to preserve a victim impact issue for appellate review. This Court has clearly held that a proper objection is required:

---

<sup>16</sup> Some of the editing of the statements was done over the objection of the State. (V15, R1736).

The failure to contemporaneously object to a comment on the basis that it constitutes improper victim testimony renders the claim procedurally barred absent fundamental error. See, e.g., *Norton v. State*, 709 So.2d 87, 94 (Fla. 1997); see also *Chandler v. State*, 702 So.2d 186, 191 (Fla. 1997). In *Burns v. State*, 699 So.2d 646, 653-54 (Fla. 1997), this Court ruled that a defendant's challenge to victim impact testimony on the basis that it was unduly prejudicial was procedurally barred because the defendant did not raise this specific objection at trial. Moreover, in *Norton*, this Court determined that a defendant's motion for a mistrial at the conclusion of a witness's testimony was insufficient to preserve the witness's impermissible comment for appellate review. 709 So.2d at 94.

Sexton's claim that the State witnesses provided improper victim impact testimony was not preserved for appellate review because defense counsel failed to contemporaneously object during the testimony of either Boron or Barrick. Furthermore, even if the motion for a mistrial at the conclusion of Boron's testimony was sufficient for preservation purposes, defense counsel did not request the mistrial on the grounds now raised on appeal. See *Burns*, 699 So.2d at 653-54. Rather, defense counsel moved for a mistrial arguing that Boron wept during her testimony and made an improper reference to Sexton's first trial. Accordingly, because Sexton did not properly preserve the issue for appellate review, Sexton's claims pertaining to the victim impact testimony are procedurally barred unless the victim impact testimony constitutes fundamental error.

*Sexton v. State*, 775 So. 2d 923, 932 (Fla. 2000).<sup>17</sup> Wheeler did not object to the admission of the testimony at issue (beyond a general, legally invalid objection), and has not preserved this claim for review. Further, he has not argued that there was fundamental error in the admission of this testimony - - there

---

<sup>17</sup> Wheeler implies, on page 40 of his brief, that this Court granted relief in *Sexton*. That is not the case.

is no basis for relief.

Alternatively, without waiving the procedural bar, there is no basis for relief because there is no error. None of the evidence was improper, and none of it was contrary to the restrictions placed on victim impact testimony. Even if this claim had been preserved by timely objection, there is no legal error, and, consequently, no legal basis for reversal. *Payne v. Tennessee*, 501 U.S. 808 (1991); *Windom v. State*, 656 So. 2d 432, 438 (Fla. 1995).

Alternatively, without waiving the foregoing arguments, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, and did not adversely affect Wheeler's substantial rights. *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Given the weight of the evidence against Wheeler, which was, to say the least, overwhelming, it makes no sense to suggest that the descriptions of the victim (which did not include any improper content) caused or contributed to the jury's sentencing recommendation. Wheeler's own conduct earned him a sentence of death, and that would have been the sentence even if there had been no victim impact evidence at all. There is no basis for relief of any sort.

## **II. THE CLOSING ARGUMENT CLAIM**

On pages 44-49 of his brief, Wheeler argues that certain statements by the prosecutor during closing argument were

"improper and prejudicial." *Initial Brief* at 45. Florida law is settled that: "[w]ide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. *Breedlove v. State*, 413 So. 2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982). It is within the judge's discretion to control the comments made to a jury, and we will not interfere unless an abuse of discretion is shown. *Occhicone v. State*, 570 So. 2d 902, 904 (Fla. 1990); *Breedlove*, 413 So. 2d at 8." *Moore v. State*, 701 So. 2d 545, 551 (Fla. 1997). Wheeler has not shown that the trial court abused its discretion with respect to the particular arguments about which he complains, only one of which was objected to, anyway.<sup>18</sup> *Merck v. State*, 32 Fla. L. Weekly S789 (Fla. Dec. 6, 2007); *Conahan v. State*, 844 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 2003); *Lugo v. State*, 845 So. 2d 74, 107-108 (Fla. 2003).

Wheeler claims that the comment, in opening statement, that the penalty phase "goes more to the nature of the crime, the nature of the defendant, and the nature of the victim" was improper. (V15, R1748). In context, that statement reads as follows:

Ladies and gentlemen, this next portion of the trial that you are about to undergo is different than the first phase. The first part we were required to focus

---

<sup>18</sup> On pages 45-46 of his brief, Wheeler lists various pre-trial motions that he filed in an attempt to restrict the State's closing argument. None of these motions are cited as having preserved any error as to the unobjected-to statements, and none of them are sufficient to do so, anyway. Those motions did not preserve the claims contained in Wheeler's brief. See, *Rimmer v. State*, 825 So. 2d 304, 324 (Fla. 2002).

solely on certain elements of the crime of murder, attempted murder, and aggravated battery and to prove those crimes to you beyond a reasonable doubt.

This part of the trial goes more to the nature of the crime, the nature of the defendant, and the nature of the victim. **Because the law sets out that in evaluating and determining what sentence to recommend to Judge Johnson, you are required to only look at specific aggravating circumstances and their relation to this case, this crime, and this defendant.**

(V15, R1748). That is an accurate description of the penalty phase of a capital trial, and there is nothing improper or inaccurate about those statements. The jury is entitled to consider the uniqueness of the victim, and here was specifically told by the prosecutor that their consideration was limited to **specific** aggravating factors. This argument was not improper, and, especially when considered in context, does not rise to the level of reversible error.

The second claim of improper argument is that the jury was told "that although there were rules to limit their emotions from entering their penalty decision, there was also common sense and reason that they should instead use in considering the loss to the victim's family that the defendant's choice had cost." *Initial Brief* at 46. The actual argument appearing on the cited pages of the transcript cannot be fairly interpreted in that way:

We recognize that that is a grave responsibility on your part to be brought in here and to be not simply asked, but required. You were sent a notice that said

you will come. You were chosen and sworn to participate in this process. And as we do that, we recognize that this will be something that stays with you forever. You will remember your week and a half here. You will recall the decisions that you made. And it may be that each time you recall them, you recall them with some emotion.

But what we try to do is to give you guidance in your role, to give you rules of court and rules of law to direct your decision-making process. And we do that for two reasons.

One very basic reason is to remove the decision that you have to make from the emotional -- from the personal level and to make that decision an application of the rules of law that we all have agreed to abide by. And so your decision, then, is an application of the rules that we all agreed to share.

The other part of that is that when you take those rules again and you apply your common sense and your reason and your judgment to those rules as they guide and direct you, those rules will help achieve a just result because that is what our system is all about setting up to do.

(V16 R 1955-56). No objection was interposed, and, even if it had been, it would have been properly overruled.

The third claim of improper argument is that the prosecutor counted the number of the victim's family members affected by the victim's murder. *Initial Brief*, at 46. In context, there is nothing objectionable or improper about that argument:

And if you just think back to yesterday you can recognize why that's so. It's obvious. The choices that Jason Wheeler made had a devastating impact on not just the family of Deputy Koester, but his family as well. If you tried to sit and count the number of people that have been affected by what was done, it numbers in the dozens just with Wayne Koester's nieces and nephews. There's six kids and two families each

and four of his own. Now, that - -

MR. GROSSENBACHER: Your Honor, I'm going to object.

THE COURT: Approach the bench. (Discussion at the bench out of the hearing of the jurors.)

MR. GROSSENBACHER: Forgive me. I hate to interrupt initial closing arguments, but this to me is like an aggravator based on the number of people that are more effective. That's not what Zack was claiming. I think this is error.

THE COURT: Mr. King?

MR. KING: It is not in any way intended to be argued as an aggravator. It is simply for them to understand that everybody has been affected by this. And my further comment will be, that's not what they can make their decision on.

THE COURT: Make that clear and limit it as best you can.

MR. KING: Okay. (Discussion at the bench ended.)

MR. KING: But you see, the rules tell you that that's not what you base your decision on. That's the whole purpose of the process is for you to try to look objectively at the choices that were made and what is the just consequence of those choices.

(V16, R1956-57).

In context (or even as presented in Wheeler's brief), there was no error, given that the prosecutor explicitly stated that the number of persons affected by the murder is **not** a proper basis for a sentencing decision.

The fourth claim of improper argument is that the state improperly "contrasted" the victim's choices with those of the defendant. *Initial Brief*, at 46. Respectfully, the record simply

does not support that interpretation of the State's argument. Whatever this claim is, it is not a basis for reversal because there is no improper argument.

The fifth and sixth claims of improper argument are that the jury was improperly "invited" to "look [sic] the 'nature and position' of the victim." *Initial Brief*, at 46. Wheeler's attempt to find error in this argument is based on an out-of-context reading of the prosecutor's statements, which, in relevant part, were:

Now, those aggravating circumstances exist for a reason. They restrict your view just like the elements of the crimes do. They restrict your view to the nature of the crime, the reason of the crime, the planning of the crime, any other violent conduct of the criminal, Mr. wheeler, and the nature and position of the victim. And that's all you can look at.

The judge told you -- instructed you when you heard the testimony of the Koester family that Mr. Koester's uniqueness to them and the community is not an aggravating fact. You cannot use that part as part of your decision to prove, have we met that burden in these aggravating factors? You cannot do that.

(V16, R1960).

When read in context alongside the argument in favor of the murder of a law enforcement officer aggravator, (V16, R1969-70) is clearly a reference to that particular aggravating factor, not an improper "victim impact" argument.

Finally, Wheeler's claim that the prosecutor improperly stated his personal opinion about this case by requesting that

the jury return a unanimous recommendation of death is unsupportable. The argument, in pertinent part, reads as follows:

The judge's instructions and the verdict form says, "By a majority vote of blank to blank, we advise and recommend." And that is all that you have to do. A simple majority can return this verdict, but I want to ask you to go beyond that. I want to ask you to make your decision manifestly clear. I want you to leave no doubt as to the gravity of the aggravating circumstances of plotting to take the life of a law enforcement officer.

Based on the facts of this case, I want to ask you to make your decision a unanimous decision. You do not need to. But if you speak as one voice and say that the aggravating circumstances in this case are so manifest and so clear, that only one sentence can do justice in this case. As difficult as it may be to make that decision, to make that conclusion, for one of you to sign that paper, that is the only just result, that you recommend to Judge Johnson that Jason Wheeler be sentenced to death.

(V16, R1973).

Wheeler's claim that that argument is a statement of the prosecutor's personal opinion is not borne out by the record. This claim has no legal basis.

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